

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Understanding Effective Parental Involvement Activities Across SES

Monique Antoinette Carrington Young Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Educational Psychology Commons

Walden University

College of Psychology and Community Services

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Monique Carrington-Young

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Rochelle Michel, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. Carl Valdez, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty Dr. Ann Romosz, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

Abstract

Understanding Effective Parental Involvement Activities Across SES

by

Monique Carrington - Young

MA, Strayer University, 2005

BS, Strayer University, 1995

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Educational Psychology

Walden University

August 2022

Abstract

Parental involvement is pivotal for impoverished middle school students to achieve academic achievement. The purpose of this study was to evaluate the relationship of parental involvement activities and academic achievement for impoverished middle school students. Epstein's six parental involvement types was the theoretical framework for the research study. The six independent variables of parental involvement were parenting, volunteering, learning at home, decision making, communicating, and collaborating with community The relationship for each parental involvement activated to academic achievement as measured by grade point average was evaluated. A quantitative research design was applied using archival data from the U.S. Department of Education. A multinominal logistic regression analysis was used to analyze the research questions. The dependent variable parental involvement was ordinal in nature as categorized as Mostly As, Mostly Bs, Mostly Cs, and Mostly Ds. Three of the six parental involvement activities revealed a statistical significance of p <0.05: three parental involvement activities were volunteering, communication, and decision making. These activities were aligned with research of traditional parental involvement activities. The implication for positive social change was effective parental involvement activities can help mitigate the effects of poverty for future generations.

Understanding Effective Parental Involvement Activities Across SES

by

Monique Carrington - Young

MA, Strayer University, 2005

BS, Shaw University, 1995

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Educational Psychology

Walden University

August 2022

Dedication

I want to dedicate this work to my Abba Father who gave this assignment to me through my son, Byron. My early teacher grandmother Betty Lou was instrumental in this journey and showed me the power of love and support regardless of your socioeconomic status and education level. I pray this work will bring my Abba Father glory and make my grandmother Betty Lou smile from heaven.

I would like to thank my husband for his strength, support on this journey, and being Mr. Mom to me, Brittany, and Bryon. I would like to thank my daughter, Brittany, for your laughter in the process. I hope me completing this PhD program will encourage you to continue and complete your MD program. I would like to thank my son, Bryon, for opening my eyes to the need of others. I would like to thank my Aunt Sandy for encouraging me to multitask yet focus on completing this program. Lastly, I would like to thank my mom, who has been with me through day or night and believing in me even when I did not believe in myself.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr. Rochelle Michel for her firm but gentle push across this finish line. My completion of the program would not be possible without Dr. Rochelle Michel. I would like to thank Dr. Valdez for his guidance with the literature review.

I would like to thank Dr. Caitlin Faas for being with me from my prospectus and proposal drafts and analyzing my data. I would like to thank my academic advisor, Catherine Heck. With your help, I got up to continue to run and complete this race. I would also like to thank Research Design and Methodology Office Hours Dr. Ozcan and Dr. Lui for your guidance and teaching during office hours. I would like to thank Dr. Reggie Taylor for your guidance in residency four and Quantitative advising.

Table of Contents

ist of Tables	iv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose of the Study	3
Research Question and Hypothesis	4
Theoretical Framework	4
Nature of Study	5
<u>Definitions</u> .	5
Assumptions.	7
Scope and Delimitations	8
<u>Limitations of Study</u>	8
Significance	8
Summary	9
Chapter 2: Literature Review	10
<u>Introduction</u>	10
Literature Search Strategy	11
Library Databases and Key Terms	11
Theoretical Foundation	12
Overlapping Spheres of Influence	14
Literature Review Related to Key	17

Parental Involvement Effectiveness.	17
Barriers to Parental Involvement	18
Poverty and Academic Achievement	22
Conclusion	30
Chapter 3: Research Methodology	32
Research Design and Rationale	32
Population	34
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	34
Procedures for Recruitment Participation and Data Collection	36
Student Archival Data Collection	39
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	40
Operationalization	41
Independent Variables: Parent Involvement	42
Data Analysis Plan	44
Threats to Validity	46
Internal Validity	46
External Validity	47
Ethical Procedures	47
<u>Summary</u>	48
Chapter 4: Results	49
Introduction	49
Data Collection	50

<u>Demographic</u>	50
Non-Probability Sampling	51
Results.	51
Statistical Assumption	52
Report Statistical Analysis and Findings	52
Pseudo R-Square	52
Model Fitting Information	53
Goodness of Fit	53
<u>Likelihood Ratio Test</u>	54
Parameter Estimates	55
Summary of Results	55
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	56
<u>Introduction</u>	56
Interpretation of the Findings	56
Limitation of the Study	58
Recommendation	59
Implication	59
Conclusion	60
References	62

List of Tables

Table 1. Demographic	50
Table 2. Dependent_Variable_Frequency	51
Table 3. Pseudo R Square	52
Table 4. Model Fitting	53
Table 5. Goodness of Fit	53
Table 6. Likelihood of Fitness	54

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Education is a powerful predictor of success, one vital for escaping poverty, but disparities exist in educational outcomes based on race and class (Eyman & Dilek, 2020). Specifically, poverty has a negative impact on academic achievement. For this study, the Department of Human Services (2021) poverty guidelines are used to determine whether a family is living in poverty or not. Based on these guidelines, a family of four with an annual income of \$26,500 is living in poverty (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services & ASPE, 2015). The income threshold model of poverty measures a household's resources against its basic needs: food, shelter, and clothing. Socio-economic status (SES) is used to expand this model by measuring a person's or household's access to resources— including goods, services, information, and social connections— that are valued by society.

Background

Poverty has also been linked to student development. Students living in poverty have limited access to health care, are exposed to environmental toxins, make poor health-related choices regarding nutrition and tobacco use, have increased exposure to stress, and experience increased psychological distress, all factors negatively associated with socioeconomic indicators (Cho et al., 2015). Moreover, many Americans associate personal attributes or worth with perceived poverty and wealth. The uneven support for programs designed to benefit the poor and reduce inequalities, including the education gap, is driven by perceived poverty and wealth (Cho et al., 2015).

To address the academic achievement gap, it is critical to understand the efforts that lead to academic achievement. Academic achievement is a product of individual attributes (e.g., cognitive ability and psychosocial maturity) and environmental influences (e.g., interactions at home and school, neighborhood safety, and resource availability; Vance, 2014). Accordingly, youth living in poverty areas can achieve academic excellence, given the right resources and support. Parental involvement is critical for families living in poverty areas who have limited resources due to their families' financial constraints (Bibo, 2020). This achievement is vital for children and adolescents to grow into adults who contribute to economic, social, and community activities in their own society. At the same time, parental involvement can also benefit educators, community leaders, and parents themselves. Unfortunately, current parental participation levels are low in many poor neighborhoods, and schools find it difficult to create programs that engage parents (Bower & Griffin, 2011).

Problem Statement

It is a significant challenge for schools to improve and increase parental involvement among low-income families (Bower, 2011). Households living in poverty have a unique set of obstacles, including challenging work schedules, lack of transportation, and lack of childcare. Bower (2011) indicated that further research is needed to understand culturally relevant parental involvement activities among high-minority and high-poverty schools. In terms of traditional strategies for parental involvement, such as volunteering at school and attending Parent Teacher Association (PTA) meetings, African American and Latino families often have low participation rates

(Brisson & Lechuga-Pena, 2018). But parents who are not able to participate in school activities expend great effort to have informal conversations and make unscheduled visits (Bower, 2011). They may view these activities as ways to demonstrate their school involvement to teachers; however, administrators tend to view such activities as obtrusive (Brisson & Lechuga-Pena, 2018). Furthermore, families in poverty are alienated by middle-class families who perceive their lack of traditional involvement as a lack of caring and concern for their children's education (Brisson & Lechuga-Pena, 2018).

The Epstein model of parental involvement, which has been adopted by the National Parent Teacher Association (PTA), includes six strategies: parenting, communicating, volunteering, learning at home, decision making, and collaborating with the community (Epstein 2005, 2011). The concern is identifying the activities that impact impoverished middle school students. Students or a child's academic standing is often defined as academic success. This contrast from academic achievement measured by the students' overall goals and aspiration (Jurado, 2014; Pauynice, 2020). However, academic success and academic achievement are intertwined with the same meaning that evaluate students current progress and standing. Grade point average (GPA) is used often to calculate success and achievement (Jurado, 2014; Pauynice, 2020). Few studies evaluate the effectiveness of parental involvement among high-poverty families using Epstein's model (Bower, 2011). Effectiveness of parental involvement is measured by students' GPAs. It is a challenge and gap in research for schools to understand the parental involvement activities for impoverished middle school students' that increase GPAs. Grading scales are used to evaluate GPA. The typical scale ranges incrementally,

with zero being the lowest score and four being the highest score. However, in this archival data set, GPA is an ordinal variable with five categories. Parental involvement, as it relates to academic achievement, is more urgent in this era of accountability and high-stakes testing (Newman et al., 2019; Zhou, 2014).

Purpose of the Study

The quantitative research study addressed a gap in the literature by exploring whether impoverished middle school students' academic achievement, as measured by GPA in this study, differs across Epstein's six parental involvement activities. Wang et al., (2019) indicate that this student population is understudied in terms of effective parental involvement activities. This study will be examining the relationship between Epstein's six parental involvement activities and GPA. Given the ordinal nature of the dependent variable, an ordinal logistic regression analysis was used to analyze the research data.

Research Question and Hypothesis

This study addresses one research question: What is the relationship between Epstein's six parental involvement activities and student academic achievement, as measured by GPA, among middle school students from high-poverty families? Parental involvement activities were used as the independent variables. GPA was used to measure academic achievement and serve as the dependent variable.

 H_0 : There is no relationship between the six parental involvement activities and student GPA among middle school students from high poverty families.

 H_A : There is a relationship between the six parental involvement activities and student GPA among middle school students from high poverty families.

Theoretical Framework

This study used two theoretical frameworks, Epstein model (Epstein, 2005, 2011) and Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory (Bronfenbrenner, 1977). Epstein's model prescribed six parental involvement activities that were used as the independent variables for this study. Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems are foundational to Epstein's model. The ecological system details the manner ones' environment and individuals in the environment are pivotal to human development. The underlying theme for both theories is human development is cultivated through experiences with individuals and systems in ones' sphere. This understanding provides greater awareness of the parental involvement activities that lead to academic achievement for middle school students living in poverty.

Nature of Study

This study was quantitative and used a non-experimental correlational research design. Specifically, it analyzed data from The National Center for Education Statistics (NCES), focusing on the National Household Education Surveys (NHES) Program, which includes the Parent and Family Involvement in Education Survey (PFI) completed in 2019. The PFI asks specific questions related to parental involvement activities. Each question is categorized based on one of the six parental involvement activities. The target population consists of 45,857 participants that completed the PFI.

In this study, parental involvement was the overarching factor used in the analysis, classified into six types of parental involvement. The six types of parental involvement were used as the independent variables. Student academic achievement, measured by GPA, is the dependent variable. In this archival data set, GPA has five categories, making it appropriate for use in an ordinal logistic regression analysis. The PFI asks participants to indicate their child's overall grades, across all subjects: Mostly As, Mostly Bs, Mostly Cs, Mostly Ds or lower, and this child's school does not give these grades.

IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 27.0, was used to analyze the data. An ordinal logistic regression analysis was conducted to examine the relationship between the parental involvement activities and the four levels of GPA.

Definitions

This section defines several terms relevant to the proposed study, focusing on the strategies in Epstein's model of parental involvement: parenting, communicating, volunteering, learning at home, decision making, and collaborating with the community (Epstein 2005, 2011). The theory of overlapping spheres of influence provides a broader perspective on parental involvement compared to traditional models.

Collaborating with the community: Collaborations between schools and communities involve transferring and sharing resources between the school and community entities. Community entities include area businesses, nonprofits, and civic, religious, and cultural organizations, among other groups (Epstein 2005, 2011). Benefits are realized for all parties involved. Tutoring programs, health services, cultural events,

service opportunities, summer programs, and part-time jobs are examples of collaborating with the community (Epstein, 2008).

Communicating: Multiple methods are used to communicate between families and schools. Schools provide written communication, such as through notes sent home or flyers about important events and activities (Epstein 2005, 2011). Parents provide communication to schools about the child's health and educational history. A school's website is an additional source of communication with parents and families. Two-way communication is vital between schools and families, as it promotes a healthy relationship between them and corrects each party's preconceived notions.

Decision-making: Participating in school governance committees or organizations, such as parent-teacher association, is a form of decision-making. Parents may assume leadership roles that involve distributing information to other parents.

Additionally, parents can actively voice their ideals by developing mission statements, or by designing, reviewing, and improving school policies that affect students and families (Epstein, 2008).

Learning at home: Parents can support their children by helping with homework or providing educational opportunities, such as trips to museums. Goal setting for report cards is also an example of learning at home (Epstein, 2008). This form of parenting produces a learning-focused family environment and encourages parents to interact with the school curriculum (Epstein 2005, 2011).

Parenting: Parenting activities require parents to understand child and adolescent development and foster an environment at home that supports children as students.

Parents differ from teachers because parents maintain a lifelong commitment to their children, while the role of a teacher is relatively limited. Activities that support parenting include providing information to parents to enhance their child's development, health, safety, or home conditions, such as creating spaces at home for students to complete their homework and schoolwork and support student learning (Epstein 2005, 2011).

Volunteering: Three basic methods are available for volunteering in schools.

Volunteering in schools or classrooms—such as tutoring or assisting administrators—is helpful to teachers. Fundraisers are another way parents can volunteer and promote community in the school. Other volunteer opportunities include training other parents, volunteering as mentors and coaches, and reaching out to parents to serve as neighborhood representatives and interpreters (Epstein, 2008).

Assumptions

The study's ordinal dependent variable is student academic achievement. The questionnaire requests parents to report their students' performance based on a grading scale from 0.00 to 4.00. It is assumed that parents' responses accurately report students' GPAs based on their report cards. It is assumed that parents' responses are based on the current school year of 2018 - 2019. It is assumed that parents understood all the questions they answered on the survey.

Scope and Delimitations

This study examines the relationships between student academic achievement and defined parental involvement activities for families living in poverty. The study used existing archival data with three criteria exist in this study: (a) parents must have students

enrolled in a public middle school, (b) families must be living in poverty as outlined by federal poverty guidelines, and (c) parents must have completed the NHES program for 2019.

Limitations of Study

This study intends to use secondary data from the NHES program of 2019. NHES data collection process posed a limitation to the study given its address-based sample collection. The target population is often under-sampled due to the response rate. Non-response bias may have occurred since some relevant households may not have participated in the survey. To address this limitation, over-sampling was used to ensure adequate responses were received from the targeted populations. The study focused on students living in poverty with different life experiences.

Significance

Families living in poverty have unique sets of challenges that affect how parental involvement influences student academic achievement. Studies conducted in the past have focused on the traditional aspects of parental involvement and research, suggesting that high-poverty families do not benefit from traditional parental involvement activities, even though they arguably need it the most (Bower, 2011). Academic achievement is essential for equipping impoverished students with the resources needed to move out of poverty.

Other studies focused on understanding parental involvement across SES and elementary school settings. Brueck et al. (2012) identified the positive impact parental involvement had on academic mastery for college. Additional studies are needed to

account for differences in SES, ethnicity, academic, and career goals. Furthermore, current studies on general parental involvement activities offer limited data on their effect in middle school (Matthews et al., 2017; Strickland, 2015).

Educational attainment, nurtured through parental involvement, reduces, and eliminates the effects of poverty. Poverty is directly related to low academic achievement (Ladd, 2012). The effects of low academic achievement can be observed in single-parent households, increased rates of poverty for future generations, and increased rates of crime (Ladd, 2012). Furthermore, students' poor academic achievement is taxing on families, communities, and governmental agencies. Social change can be achieved by providing effective parental involvement activities to families. This study will provide an understanding of which parental involvement activities are related to the academic achievement of impoverished students for middle school students.

Summary

Chapter 1 provided background on the current state of parental involvement for families living in poverty, as well as its effects on student academic achievement. A gap in research exists on which types of parental involvement are most effective for families living in poverty. The study evaluates parental involvement activities that lead to academic success, supported by the theoretical framework of Epstein's model. Chapter 2 will review the literature that is foundational to the research study. Specifically, it will discuss the literature, as well as foundational and current research relevant to parental involvement activities and academic achievement. Lastly, it will discuss key variables for

the research study, along with the benefits of academic achievement for families living in poverty.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Introduction

Academic achievement is entwined with the interaction of personal social, and environmental factors. Teachers, school administrators, education researchers, and policy maker and social agencies are committed in identifying factors that affect academic success of school aged students (Wilder, 2014). An abundance of research exists on closing the achievement gap for primary grades beyond teachers' instructional control in the classroom or school (Martin, 2015; Wilder, 2014). Student related variables and parent variables are vital in understanding the impact parental involvement has on academic achievement (Otani, 2019). Student related variables are socioeconomic status (SES), gender, age, and ethnicity. The Epstein parental involvement model prescribes six parental involvement activities is used to evaluate parenting variables (Epstein, 2008).

Effective solutions to close the achievement gap extends beyond appropriate instruction in the subject areas especially for students that are struggling academically. In efforts to closing the achievement gap, a multifaceted and comprehensive perspectives must be considered to include social and psychological constructs for low achieving or at-risk students. This process includes understanding the influences of family and school contexts and the relationship within the influences (Bellibas, 2016). Evaluating the influences is essential for understanding academic achievement of secondary students. The development stage for secondary students requires a different set of psychological and social task as compared elementary counterparts. The age between 12 and 18 is a

significant period of transition. During this period, secondary students strive to develop a sense of independence.

Research suggests the pursuit for independence is strongly connected with both intrapersonal and interpersonal relationship and context (Yujeong et al., 2018). This construct is supported by Bronfenbrenner's ecological system indicating adolescent psychological development is contingent on complex, dynamic and reciprocal context (Bronfenbrenner, 1977).

Chapter 2 includes a detail discussion on the existing literature of the dependent and independent variable for parents living in poverty. In this chapter, the theoretical framework is discussed as it relates to the current research study. The independent, dependent of the research is evaluated. The trend of parental involvement is discussed with understanding the existing research gap for this study.

Literature Search Strategy

Library Databases and Key Terms

The Walden University Library provided E-Research by discipline and the literature source for this study. The specific research databases used for this study are Academic Search Premier, ProQuest Central, ProQuest Dissertation & Thesis, Google Scholar, APA PsycInfo and ERIC. Parental involvement, parenting activity, academic achievement, grade point average, academic achievement, academic success, poverty and Title 1 schools are the key terms used in the search feature.

Three criteria were used in the advance search function: full text, scholarly (peer reviewed) journal, and publication date. Publication date for this research study ranged

between 1977 and 2021. The dated journals provided references on the theoretical framework and foundational work. The most up to date research provided references on the current trends of parental involvement and academic achievement. In addition, the research assisted in identifying potential gaps in the current literature.

Theoretical Foundation

Two theoretical foundations are used in this study: Bronfenbrenner's (1977) ecology of human development and Epstein's (2005, 2011) model. Bronfenbrenner's theory is the foundational model for this study with Epstein's theory detail key aspects of family and community that leads to academic achievement for student living in poverty. Epstein's theory tenets are the independent variables for this study.

Bronfenbrenner (1977) proposed human development as the focus on the progressive accommodation, throughout the lifespan, between the growing human organism and the changing environment in which one lives and grows. Bronfenbrenner coined this process as the ecology of human development. The ecology of human development has two key attributes: the formation of human development, and the environment in which human development is fostered. The process consists of relationships obtained within and between immediate settings as well as larger social context, both formal and informal, in which the settings are embedded (Bronfenbrenner, 1977). The environment consists of a nested arrangement of structures, each contained within the next. Within the environment of human develop are five systems: microsystem, mesosystem, exosystem, macrosystem, and chronosystem.

Microsystem is the interaction between the developing person, environment, and their immediate setting (Bronfenbrenner, 1977). Setting is described as a place with a physical feature in which individuals engage in specific activities associated with a household role. Family, educations, and communities, such as religious institutions, greatly impact this setting. The system consists of those in direct contact with the student.

Mesosystem includes the interrelations between the major settings containing the developing person at a particular point in their life (Bronfenbrenner, 1977). Interaction between family, school, churches, and peer groups are examples of mesosystem.

Mesosystem may also include the attitude of the student towards a teacher based on experience. A teacher who commends a student for a good job on an assignment may yield increased efforts from the student on future assignments.

Exosystem is an extension of the mesosystem that encompasses specific social structures, formal and informal. There may not be a direct interaction between the developing person and their social structure. However, the developing person's immediate setting is influenced. This includes major institutions in society operating on a singular local level, like the interaction between workplaces, neighborhoods, mass media, agencies of government, business, and informal social networks (Bronfenbrenner, 1977). Exosystem may include the impact of a parent's work schedule, or the support received at home.

Macrosystem includes the overarching institutional patterns of the culture or subculture such as the economic, social, educational, legal, and political systems that microsystem, mesosystem, and exosystem connect (Bronfenbrenner, 1977). Macrosystem

is expressed in carriers of information and ideology that explicitly and implicitly endow meaning and motivate agencies, social networks, roles, activities, and their interrelations. Furthermore, macrosystem includes the culture—culture as it relates to the individual or their family based on SES, ethnicity, and living context (i.e., developed or third world country). Belief systems are developed by the individual in this system, whether preserving despite one's current condition or becoming despondent because of one's condition.

Chronosystem is the influence of both change and stability within the person's life throughout development (Bronfenbrenner, 1986). Chronosystems provide an understanding of the impact of personal and historical life events on family processes.

Life transitions and environmental events impact this system. For example, parents that have experienced a sudden loss may impact the child's behavior immediately following the event.

Bronfenbrenner's theory of human development reveals the impact parents, educators, and the community have on a child's development. Child development is also influenced by governmental policies and procedures, such as funding schools to support low-income families. Parents' occupations impact a child's development too, either due to the work schedule or time demands, and an educator's interactions with the student can greatly influence a child's development as well. Acknowledging a student's effort or potential may encourage students to put forth more effort. Community members or organizations are also influential in a child's development. A church may offer students hope, support, and mentorship. Life events and experiences impact a student's

development and awareness of their environment. The impact is not singular, but rather complex with each person, experience, and environment.

Overlapping Spheres of Influence

School, family, and community partnership is the progression of parental involvement. These practices have resulted in the theory of overlapping spheres of influences (Epstein 2005, 2011). The theory's premise is students learn more when parents, educators, and other in the community members work together. The process includes all parties guiding and supporting student learning. It is critical that home, school and community overlaps their influences and interaction across all contexts with the student. Emphasis is placed on the need for collective interaction between parents, educators, and other in partners to understand each other perspective, understanding, identify common goals for students, and appreciate others point of view towards student development (Epstein 2005, 2011).

The theory of overlapping spheres of influence model is inspired by Bronfenbrenner (1977). The ecology of human development supports the Epstein model of parental involvement. Three spheres exist in the Epstein model: parent, educator, and community (Epstein 2005, 2011). Maintaining the three spheres of influence that direct the Epstein model of parental involvement uses a similar concept with overlapping spheres of influences. Each sphere yields an experience that influences the child's development. Epstein (2005, 2011) indicated additional research is needed to understand the manner overlapping of home, school, and community leads to optimize academic achievement at each grade levels.

The theory of overlapping spheres of influence provides a broader perspective as compared to the traditional parental involvement that yields a narrow perspective. Six types of parental involvement are also outlined in Epstein model: parenting, communicating, volunteering, learning at home, decision making, and collaborating with the community (Epstein, 2005, 2011).

Parenting: Parenting activities include parents understanding child and adolescent development and foster an environment at home that supports children as students.

Parents differ from teachers because parents maintain a lifelong commitment to their children, while the role of a teacher is relatively limited. Activities that support parenting include providing information to parents about their child's development, health, safety, or home conditions such as creating spaces at home for students to complete their homework and schoolwork that can support student learning (Epstein, 2005, 2011).

Communicating: Multiple methods are used to communicate between families and schools. Schools provide written communication either through notes sent home or flyers about important events and activities (Epstein, 2005, 2011). Parents provide communication to schools about the child's health and educational history. A school's website is an additional source of communication with parents and families. Two-way communication is vital between schools and families. The benefit of two-way communication as it promotes a healthy relationship between the parent and education that removes preconceived notions from both parties.

Volunteering: Three basic methods are available for volunteering in schools.

Volunteering in schools or classrooms—such as tutoring or assisting administrators—is

helpful to teachers. Fundraisers are another way parent can volunteer and promote community in the school. Other volunteer opportunities include training other parents, volunteering as mentors and coaches, and reaching out to parents to serve as neighborhood representatives and interpreters (Epstein, 2008).

Learning at Home: Parents can support their children by helping with homework or providing educational opportunities, such as trips to museums. Goal setting for report cards is also an example of learning at home (Epstein, 2008). This form of parenting produces a learning focused family environment and encourages parents to interact with the school curriculum (Epstein, 2005, 2011).

Decision Making: Participating in school governance committees or organizations, such as parent-teacher association, are forms of decision making. Parents may assume leadership roles that involve distributing information to other parents.

Additionally, parents can actively voice their ideals in developing mission statements, in designing, reviewing, and improving school policies that affect students and families (Epstein, 2005, 2011).

Collaborating with the Community: Collaborations between schools and communities involve transferring and sharing resources between the school and community entities. Community entities include areal businesses, nonprofit, civic, religious, and cultural organizations, among other groups (Epstein, 2005, 2011). Benefits are realized for all parties involved such as tutorial programs, health services, cultural events, service opportunities, summer programs, and part-time jobs are examples of collaborating with the community (Epstein, 2008).

Literature Review Related to Key

Parental Involvement Effectiveness

The benefits associated with parent involvement are well-documented and include students being more likely to complete their homework, low school absentee rates, and enhanced linguistic skills (Allen & White, 2018; Jeynes, 2007). Parental involvement has a direct impact on the academic achievement gap that reveals a disparity in the level of achievement between race and social economic status. Teachers and administrators constantly evaluate parental involvement as a major tool to address student achievement, and it helps create partnerships between parents and schools. Jeynes's (2016) study evaluated the impact that parental involvement has on African American students.

Jeynes's results indicate that parent engagement has a positive influence on African American seniors.

Erion (2006) investigated a singular component of parental involvement—parent tutoring. This concept expands beyond simply monitoring homework to providing parents the needed skills to support students in various ways. Two treatment categories were created in the study: training that included written instructions, modeling, supervised practice length of training, and duration of training sessions, and follow-up features that consisted of consultation and monitoring (Erion, 2006). The traditional concept of parental involvement is more passive. Studies that evaluate the traditional aspect of parents monitoring the homework process led to academic achievement. The study yielded positive results (Erion, 2006). Using specific tutoring skills and giving appropriate materials and feedback enables parents to have a positive impact on their

child academic achievement (Erion, 2006). The impact of parent tutoring did not vary by grade level of children or by the skill level at which children received tutoring.

Khan and Rush (2016) evaluated the predictor variables of parental involvement that lead first generation students to pursue college. There is a positive correlation between higher education and earned incomed, and a negative correlation between not pursuing higher education and reliance on public assistance (Khan & Rush, 2016). Yet, pursing a college education for first generation students is vital. First generation college students are generally from low SES households (Kahn & Rush, 2016). Parents education expectation significantly for first generation college students is the highest predictor for the parental involvement types.

Barriers to Parental Involvement

Evidence supports the value parental involvement has for students. Some families experience barriers to engaging in parental involvement. Low SES parents experience a unique set of barriers. Some educators and policy makers perceived the barriers experienced by low SES status as disinterest. African American families have cited negative experiences regarding their interactions with school personnel. Parents have reported feeling isolated, alienated, and disengaged. Financial and educational resources are barriers for low SES parents, and limited financial resources are often associated with jobs with less flexible schedules (Williams & Sanchez, 2011). Restricted resources are also associated with poverty. Malone (2017) indicated limited parental involvement can be attributed to limited access to resources and opportunities that is an inherit characteristic of low SES. Research supports that some barriers may be attributed to

parents' low social and financial capital (Allen & White, 2018; Bower, 2011; Drummond & Stipek, 2004). Yet, some barriers can be attributed to actions of teachers, administrators, and policy makers (Luet, 2017). Barriers to traditional parental involvement include lack of transportation, childcare, and inflexible work schedules (Allen & White, 2018; Bower, 2011; Drummond & Stipek, 2004). Malone (2017) expanded on the barriers experienced by low SES parents: lack of knowledge or education, preference for home-based involvement, and visibility of involvement.

Lack of knowledge or education is a potential barrier for low SES parents. Turney & Kao (2009) evaluated race and immigrant differences among barriers to parental involvement at their children's school. Previous studies of racial, ethnic, and immigrant differences in parental involvement focus on adolescents. Turney & Kao's (2009) study focused on elementary students. A multivariate analysis was used to illustrate the race and immigrant differences that hinder parents from contacting their child's teacher. Parents from mid to high SES are often more educated and are more actively engaged in their child's school than low SES parents (Turney & Kao, 2009). The deficit of knowledge and education places low SES parents at a disadvantage based on their lack of understanding of procedures to gain resources to support their student's education. Parental involvement decreases as students transition from elementary to middle and high school, because some parents are less knowledgeable in higher level subjects. Low SES parents may not feel qualified compared to mid to high SES parents based on their education background (Coulter-Kern & Duchane, 2007). Luet (2017) identified a contrasting view with the distinction between middle/upper-class parents that are able to

make generous contributions to schools, and lower SES parents that are described as lacking skills and knowledge to add anything of value to their children's education.

Low SES parents desire to participate in their children's school activities, but challenges persist with inflexible work schedules and limited transportation. Low SES parents are more inclined to have occupations with low wages and limited flexibility. This creates a hardship on parents as they often must decide whether to maintain their current employment to support their family financially, or attend school events (Hoover-Dempsey, & Sandler, 2007). Similar constraints hold true for limited transportation. Low SES parents may rely on public transportation or one car per family, which makes attending school events difficult. Researchers suggest school officials provide bus transportation for major events, such as open house or back to school activities (Malone, 2017).

The challenges experienced by families may perceived as parents are not interested in support their children. However, it is critical to properly measure parental involvement activities conduct at home. The inability to measure in home parental involvement is the challenge for schools (Allen & White, 2018; Bower & Griffin, 2011). The Epstein model is a widely referenced framework for parental involvement utilizing the six concrete types of involvement. Epstein model acknowledges the positive impacts of home-based involvement, including encouragement and support of educational activities. Allen & White (2018) implied the role of parents in the decision-making process is defined and created within the school framework rather than within families' terms. Bower and Griffin (2011) utilized the Epstein model to evaluate the effectiveness

of defined parental involvement types for African American families. Constraints are present within this model as it does not account for cultural and ethnic differences. Even with these constraints, the Epstein model is comprehensive in outlining parental involvement activities and is prevalent in the field and used by schools (Allen & White, 2018; Bower & Griffin, 2011).

Visibility of involvement is a challenge to parental involvement from a school perspective. Traditional parental involvement activities are demonstrated in schools and can be observed by teachers and administrators (Allen & White, 2017; Bower & Griffin, 2011; Epstein, 2005, 2011; Luet, 2017). Luet (2017) evaluated how policy makers impact parental involvement utilizing a qualitative study. The study considered the implications of having policy makers focus on fixing the problems in failing schools rather than attempting to fix parents. Home-based parental involvement has been argued to be just as effective as traditional parental involvement based on the students' academic achievement (Luet, 2017). Parental involvement activity regarding parents helping their students with homework increases the students' academic achievement.

Williams and Sanchez (2011) identified and sought methods to decrease barriers to parental involvement for inner-city parents. The tenets of parental involvement have a positive impact on academic achievement, school engagement, and school adjustment. The common theme identified was that actively involving parents in low-income communities is a great challenge for educators. Past research has found a contrast between parental involvement for families of higher SES status and families of lower SES status. Limited resources and knowledge remain a barrier for parents of lower SES

status. The scarcity of resources impacts both family as well as neighborhood level.

Inner-city schools are characterized by minority students, high crime, high
unemployment, gang activity, illegal drug dealing, and perpetual violence (Williams &
Sanchez, 2011).

Key barriers identified for inner-city parents are restricted access to financial and educational resources, less flexible work schedule to attend school functions, and negative interaction with school personnel (Allen & White, 2018; Williams & Sanchez, 2011;). In addition, African American parents found it difficult to dispel the misperception that they do not care about their child's education if the parent was not successful in school. Williams and Sanchez (2011) indicated that despite the barrier, most school personnel value building productive programs and positive relationship with inner-city families. However, school personnel appear reluctant to try based on their current knowledge. Three ways to involve parents have been listed as giving parents a meaningful role, keeping them informed, and presenting opportunities for them to support educational developmental progress at home and school (Allen & White, 2018, Williams & Sanchez, 2011). Strong communication between school personnel and innercity families is fundamental to involving parents. Empowerment and local resources and outreach are additional strategies to increase parental involvement for inner-city African American parents. Research suggests that vulnerable families that suffer high levels of stress and isolation could be empowered by school-based programs that support the production of social capital, a sense of connectedness, and a sense of knowing (Allen & White, 2018; Williams & Sanchez, 2011)

Past research focused on parental involvement from a parent's perspective, with minimal regard to the school personnel perspective or combined perspective from the parent and school personnel. Limited studies are available that examine the barriers of parental involvement for inner-city high school context. Williams and Sanchez's study examined the specific barrier for parental involvement from the perspective of the parent and school personnel (Williams & Sanchez, 2011). Inner-city students are often categorized as impoverished students and relates to research participants for this study.

Poverty and Academic Achievement

Time poverty is defined as the activities at home and away from school that consume parents' time. Employment was listed as a primary task that consumed parents' time and posed a barrier in becoming more involved in their child's education. Lack of access is the difficulty to gain access to the school physical structure to attend school events and meetings. Participants indicated that it is difficult for parents with disability or illness to participate in school events. Parents cited scheduling of school events and operating hours that were not sensitive to the schedules of parents that work during the day. One individual from the school personnel acknowledged the parents' concern with lack of access and reiterated the school's attempts to accommodate parents with scheduling events on different days and times.

Community poverty has a significant impact on parental involvement as it relates to academic achievement. Gordon & Cui (2014) explored how community poverty affects the associations between school related parental involvement and adolescents'

academic achievement. The theoretical framework is the ecological theory by Bronfenbrenner (1979).

From the parental involvement activities, positive outcomes have derived, such as higher test scores on standardized tests, higher grade point averages, and a greater sense of higher academic success (Gordon & Cui, 2014). Other studies indicated that parental involvement had no significant impact on student achievement (Okpala, Okpala & Smith, 2001; Ucus et al., 2019). Gordon and Cui (2004) revealed such inconsistent findings are likely due to the difference in the operationalization of parental involvement. The term can vary from the activities in parental involvement or the types of involvement, rather it is parental activities conducted at home such as assisting with homework or school related activities such as volunteering.

Gordon and Cui's (2014) study is based on two core gaps in literature: the difference between adolescent academic achievement and examining parental involvement in general with a focus on school-related parental involvement. Previous literature has focused on younger students. Limited literature focuses on adolescents. Various forms of parental involvement exist that creates operationalization differences in parental involvement. The differences have created a literature gap.

In addition to the ecological theory, the social disorganization theory is used as a theoretical framework. Gordon & Cui (2014) indicate the theory suggests the influence of community factors on such outcomes as community poverty that impacts adolescents' academic achievement. Furthermore, the theory suggests individuals living in neighborhoods with high levels of poverty are less able to maintain collective cohesion

for the good of their community. Distressed communities may weaken parents' efforts to assist with their adolescents' academic achievement. Parental involvement activities that support science fairs may not be as effective due to the limited funding to support such projects. In addition, parents' support of attendance and education may be dampened by truancy and delinquency of other peers in the community (Ucus et al, 2019; Wentzel, 2009). The ecological theory and social disorganization theory are used in conjunction to determine the influence of community factors on individual outcomes (Gordon & Cui, 2014).

Gordon and Cui (2014) acknowledged healthy associations between parenting and adolescent development. However, few studies have addressed the impact of community poverty as it relates to adolescents' development. Limited research exists in examining community poverty and its effect on the association between school-related parental involvement and adolescent academic outcome (Gordon & Cui, 2014). Eamon and Altshuler (2004) determined that the quality of parenting practices was less effective for adolescents from poorer, lower quality communities, which resulted in lower academic achievement.

Kohen, Leventhal, Dahinten, and McIntosh (2008) evaluated the extent to which neighborhood socioeconomic conditions impact parental involvement. Participants in the study consisted of younger students who were on average 5 years old (M=5). The study found that the effects of community disadvantage is associated with parenting and adolescents' academic outcomes. The lack of research is attributed to small samples sizes at a community level (Gordon & Cui, 2014). This limits researchers' ability to investigate

the complex influences of community poverty on the association between parenting and adolescents' achievement outcomes (Gordon & Cui, 2014). To fill the gap in research, Gordon and Cui (2014) used a community sample to investigate the nonlinear multiplicative effects of parenting and community-level poverty on adolescents' academic achievement.

Gordon & Cui's (2014) goal was to determine whether community poverty is associated with school related parental involvement and adolescents' academic achievement. Three measures and one covariate were used in the study: community-level poverty, school related parental involvement, and academic achievement in adolescence with ethnicity, gender, and family SES as the covariates. Community poverty is summed up with five adverse community characteristics based on the US Census data (Gordon & Cui, 2014). The five items are: proportion of female-headed households with children 18 years or younger, portion of household with public assistance income, proportion of individuals with service level jobs, proportion of households with income below the poverty level, and proportion of individuals who are unemployed (Merten, 2010; Rowe et al, 2019). Multilevel regression models were used to examine the moderating effects of community poverty on school related parental involvement and adolescents' academic achievement (Gordon & Cui, 2014).

Adolescents' academic achievement was the dependent variable. Gordon & Cui (2014) introduced a cross level interaction term by specifying the slope for individual level, school related parental involvement as a function of poverty. The findings revealed a significant and positive interaction coefficient between school related parental

involvement and community poverty on grade level. (b=-.01, p <.01). The R2 for final model was .131 and the effect size was .15. This revealed a medium effect (Cohen, 1992). The medium effect size indicates a moderate relationship between the school related parental involvement and community poverty. Furthermore, school related parental involvement was less effective for adolescents who lived in communities with high poverty, yielding a lower academic achievement for adolescents. The findings mirror similar research for school related academic achievement and poverty communities (Eamon & Altshuler, 2004: Hill & Tyson, 2009).

Gordon & Cui (2014) aimed to fill this gap in the literature by moderating effects of community poverty on the associations between school related parental involvement and adolescents' academic achievement. The findings suggest that positive effects of parental involvement on adolescents' schooling from high income communities are consistent with previous research (Gordon & Cui, 2014). The theme from the research is that community can affect the success of parenting in influencing adolescents' academic outcome. Gordon & Cui (2014) found that communities in poverty have an adverse impact on the effectiveness of school-related parental involvement on adolescents' academic achievement.

Gordon & Cui's (2014) study mirrored other research indicating that white adolescents have higher academic achievement as compared to blacks and Hispanics, but lower than Asians. In addition, female students' academic achievement is higher than that of male students. Parents' education and family structure impact the outcome of student achievement. Gordon & Cui (2014) revealed that even after moderating effect of

community, poverty still impacted the effectives of parental involvement. The study is among the first to explore the interactive influences of multilevel factor community poverty on school related parental involvement and adolescents' academic achievement outcomes. However, the study provides limited information on the effective strategies for parents to use with adolescents living in community poverty. The implications enable parents, policy makers, and other vested parties to explore various avenues for improving the academic success of adolescents. It is pivotal to understand the type of parental involvement activities that lead to improvement for impoverished middle school students.

Mayo & Siraj (2015) conducted a study on the disadvantaged position of working-class children in the education system. The study used 35 case studies conducted through the Effective Provision of Pre-School, Primary, and Secondary Educations (EPPSE 3-16) research project. The EPPSE 3-16 study utilized a mixed method approach that followed the progression of over 3,000 children from age 3 to 16 years old. Parents' SES and level of education had a significant impact on student achievement outcome (Mayo & Siraj, 2015). In addition, the study also revealed that how parents engaged with their children had a significant impact on children's academic outcome. Parents cultivate learning experiences for their children through socialization practices (Mayo & Siraj, 2015, McDowell et al, 2018). A variety of experiences with an emphasis in cultural differences help develop those skills and knowledge considered most valuable.

Mayo & Siraj (2015) aimed at contributing to the understanding of how and why some parents and children from low-SES families manage to create a family environment that enables them to overcome the poor odds associated with socioeconomic

disadvantage. Parenting practices in the study are operationalized as active cultivation.

The term active is used because the strategy requires and stimulates participation from all involved. Cultivation is used as it aims to make the most of a child's life by fostering learning and education. Active cultivation combines aspects of the socialization patterns and concerted cultivation with a distinctive twist.

Mayo & Siraj (2015) adapted a grounded theory using a mixed methods framework. The quantitative data from the EPPSE project was combined with the grounded theory. Risk and resilience for academic achievement research was reviewed from international literature along with qualitative interview data design, collected and analyzed over two years for the case studies.

Mayo & Siraj (2015) conducted in-depth interviews with each participant. The interview topic focused on occurrence of risk and protective factors associated with academic achievement, and participants perception of influences on academic trajectories. A collective review of international literature from the fields of psychology, sociology, and education was conducted to identify the themes of parenting beliefs and self-efficacy. The focus area consisted of early years of home learning. Additional case specific questions include how remedial classes impact learning. The learning trajectories were based on children's cognitive assessments between the ages 3 and 14. At the time of the study, children's participants were between the age of 14 and 16 years old (Mayo & Siraj, 2015). Children and parents who were interviewed followed the same process with one exception. The parent interview process included questions around parents' education, life experiences, socioeconomic family circumstances, and parenting beliefs.

The interviews were transcribed by research assistants that followed a strict protocol. A second author independently coded several initial transcripts. Inter-coded reliability used established visual comparisons, and all differences were resolved by discussion and applied in subsequent coding. The analysis centered on instances of well-established risk and protective factors.

The study identified two dimensions of parental involvement that are perceived to have significantly contributed to the child's path to academic success: emotional and practical support with learning. Verbal communication played a vital role in emotional support, such as when parents and children discussed school and learning activities daily. Through the direct dialogue between the parent and child, parents were able to emphasize the importance of school for the child's future, which had a favorable impact on academic achievement. Favorable impacts include high aspirations and expectation in homework, improves classroom behavior, and future education goals (Mayo & Siraj, 2015). The relationship between parents and children demonstrating warmth, and encouragement had a positive impact on academic achievement.

Practical help with school and learning is instrumental to academic achievement. Basic conditions must be set by parents for children to be engaged in school-related work and activities in the family environment, such as providing a computer for schoolwork, regulating activities in the home environment, and interacting with teachers (Mayo & Siraj, 2015). However, a financial constraint may be imposed from the need to purchase a computer and have internet access for their children. While computers did have a positive impact on creative ways to develop basic skills, the use of social media and game

consoles had a negative impact. The difference in academic achievement with the known constraints was based on parents' guidelines around usage (Mayo & Siraj, 2015). Leisure time had a positive impact on academic achievement. Parents that allowed their children to play indoor and outdoor with supervision had progressed as predicted by the study. However, some parents incorporated school learning in leisure time activities. Such activities included visiting the library, thinking of games to practice school skills, reading books for fun, and utilizing other learning activities, including practice exams. As children progressed into primary and secondary school, they lost interest in school-related activities (Mayo & Siraji, 2015; McDowell et al, 2018).

The study predicted that the socialization strategy of accomplishment of natural growth provided children with ample opportunities to gradually discover, negotiate, and obtain a place within society as they developed skills and internalized goals that met the expectations and values of their community (Mayo & Sirija, 2015). Ironically, academic success was not part of the socialization strategy. The findings illustrated that parents understand the importance of teaching their children rules and practices that are needed to function in society and educational institutions. Mayo & Sirija (2015) revealed a counter impact on socialization strategy as parents foster positive interactions with the education system. The same holds true for negative interaction—parents that feel incapable of addressing items as they pertain to their children's education. The socialization strategy explains how the negative feelings are passed down to the children.

Goals are set and communicated clearly towards academic socialization. Shared goals rooted in family structure and community view had a favorable impact on academic

achievement. All values focused on additional goals of upwards social mobility.

Education was esteemed as a vehicle to achieve the goals and was valued as a necessity.

This viewpoint encouraged the parent to remain active in their child's education journey.

The creation of a home environment that facilitated and stimulated learning by providing learning materials, fostering a positive orientation towards literacy by communicating with teachers to resolve issues, establishing homework routines, and providing consistent, emotional support had a tremendous impact on academic achievement. In addition, frequent bi-direction conversations between the parent and child that discussed daily, and future had a positive impact as well (Mayo & Sirija, 2015).

Conclusion

Parental involvement has been found an important factor related to student achievement (Bower, 2011). However, identifying the type of parental involvement has been found to be an important factor related to student achievement. This statement is especially true for families living in poverty. Limited research is available that identify parental involvement activities are related to higher levels of academic achievement for families living in poverty. The aim for this study is to Utilize an ordinal logistic regression analysis as the research design to evaluate the relationship of parental involvement and academic achievement for families living in poverty with students in middle school.

Chapter 3: Research Methodology

The purpose of this research study was to determine the relationship of academic achievement and parental involvement activities. The dependent variable of academic achievement was analyzed using an ordinal logistic regression analysis. The relationship between the six independent variables related to parental involvement activities and the ordinal dependent variable grade point average was examine. Chapter 3 includes the methodology for the current research study. The research design strategy is explained and justified. The population, sampling, and sampling process are detailed. The procedure for recruitment, participation, and data collection are discussed. The instrumentation and operationalization of each variable are detailed.

Research Design and Rationale

In this quantitative nonexperimental, survey-based study, participants included parents of public-school students in middle school living in poverty. Research variables was parental involvement activities, students' GPA. Archival data were used for this study. The archival data were stored and available publicly (Jackson et al., 2021). The independent variables were a set of parental involvement activities. The parental involvement activities included collaborating with community, communication, decision making, learning at home, parenting, and volunteering. The ordinal dependent variable was academic achievement based on students' grades as reported by parents. Academic achievement was measured using five categories, Mostly As, Mostly Bs, Mostly Cs, and Mostly Ds or lower. Archival data provided significant benefits for this research study,

including reduced data collection time, availability to the public, as well as no financial cost to the researcher associated with the data collection

Ordinal logistic regression was the research design to address the research question in this study. The research question was as follows:

- Is there a relationship between Epstein's six parental involvement activities and student academic achievement, as measured by GPA, among middle school students from high-poverty families?
 - o Is there a relationship between Epstein's six parental involvement activity parenting and student academic achievement, as measured by (GPA), among middle school students from high-poverty families?
 - Is there a relationship between Epstein's six parental involvement activity volunteering and student academic achievement, as measured by (GPA), among middle school students from high-poverty families?
 - o Is there a relationship between Epstein's six parental involvement activity learning at home and student academic achievement, as measured by (GPA), among middle school students from highpoverty families?
 - Is there a relationship between Epstein's six parental involvement activity decision making and student academic achievement, as

- measured by (GPA), among middle school students from highpoverty families?
- Is there a relationship between Epstein's six parental involvement activity communicating and student academic achievement, as measured by (GPA), among middle school students from high-poverty families?
- Is there a relationship between Epstein's six parental involvement activity collaborating with community and student academic achievement, as measured by (GPA), among middle school students from high-poverty families?

An ordinal logistic regression was suited for this study based on the independent and dependent variables. GPA, the dependent variable, has four ordered response categories. An ordinal logistic regression was to predict GPA, the dependent variable, and rank the relative significance of the parental involvement activities, the independent variables. The odds ratio was used to explain the impact of the predictor variables (Garson, 2012). Understanding the relationship between GPA and the parental involvement activities will provide an understanding of the parental involvement activities that lead to academic achievement for families in poverty.

Population

In this study, the target population was guardians of students enrolled in middle school, specifically those students enrolled in the sixth, seventh or eighth grade in public schools located in the United States. The study was focused on families living in poverty.

The poverty level was based on all families living in poverty as defined by the Human Health Services guidelines (Jackson et al., 2021). Families or parents/guardian with students enrolled in home school and parent that did not complete the survey.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

The sample for this study was from archival data from the 2019 National Household Education Survey Program. (NHES:2019) The survey was conducted by the U.S. Census Bureau and included a screener survey and two additional surveys: the Early Childhood Program Participation Survey and the PFI. Survey. The screener survey asked for a list of household members and was used to select an eligible child to be the focus of the survey. The PFI survey collects data about students who are enrolled in K-12 in a physical or virtual school or are homeschooled for equivalent grades. The survey asked questions about various aspects of parent involvement in education. The NHES:2019 used a nationally representative address-based sample covering the 50 states and the District of Columbia. The PFI data are nationally representative of the nonhome schooling population of students in grades K-12, including children enrolled in public, private, and virtual schools. Only children enrolled in public schools were included in the sample for this study. The middle school segment was based on parents with children in the sixth, seventh and eighth grade. Two key characteristics of the selected sample was students enrolled in a public middle school and families living in poverty as defined by Human Health Services (Jackson et al., 2021).

Non-probability purposive sampling is the sample design. This design yields data for the target population. A constraint with this model may result in the overweight of

subgroups that participated in the survey either returning mail surveyed or web survey. The response rate for the survey completion was 52.6%. The original size of the sample was 16,477.

PFI had 205,000 addresses selected. The initial file was based on a file with residential addresses maintained by Marketing System Group (MSG), the United States Post Office (USPS), and Computerized Delivery Sequence File (Jackson et al., 2021). NHES:2019 consist of a two-stage stratified sample. The first sample consist of the residential addresses provided by MSG file with the second sampling included eligible child from the information provided by the household mail screener. Differential probability was used in selecting households and children based on Black and Hispanics composition of the Census tract where an address is located, residential address type, and children's survey eligibility within the households for PFI. NHES weighting methodology accounts the differential probabilities of selection (Jackson et al., 2021). As the weights are applied to the PFI survey, it is nationally representative of students enrolled in grades K-12 that are enrolled in public schools, private schools, and those that are home schooled.

NHES:2019 oversampled Black and Hispanic households' Census and sample frame data (Jackson et al., 2021). The process of oversampling is required to ensure a reliable estimate of subdomain defined by groups. In the past, the response rate for Blacks and Hispanics have been lower than the other group spectrum. In addition, the oversampling compensates for the differential of response rates to the interviews for Black and Hispanic.

The GPower3.16 software was used to determine the minimum samples size for this study. The priori power analysis was the power analysis conducted. The power analysis computed the required sample size given a = .05, power = .95 and effect size = .25. (Faul, et al., 2007, 2009), resulting in a sample size of 1180. This ranges between 1,980 for effect size = .10 and 198 for effect size of .40. Type I errors are increased with small effect size = .10. Type II errors are reduced with high power. The rationale for using a .95 power in this research study. Type I errors are reduced with lower a.

Procedures for Recruitment Participation and Data Collection

In this study, PFI-NHES:2019 a national data set provided information about parent and family involvement in middle school children attending public schools in the United States. The data collection process primarily utilized a mail based, self-administered questionnaire. The data collection process was conducted in two stages: a screener and topical survey stage. A brief screening questionnaire was mailed to the sampled household addresses. Questionnaires were sent out in packets written in English only or bilingual (English and Spanish) version. The packets included an introductory letter, requesting an adult household member living at the address complete the questionnaire, \$5 monetary incentive, and preaddress postage paid return envelope.

NHES:2019 introduced new strategies to collect data from the survey called multi-mode design. Participants were encouraged to complete the survey either by Web or Telephone Questionnaire Assistance. Participants that completed the survey by web or telephone were entitled to receive \$10 or \$20 cash reward.

To obtained signed consent on completing and releasing the data provided in the questionnaire, two sections of the survey addressed this item. A statement on page 2 of the survey indicated the participant authorize the collection of data as governed by the bill and statue Section 9543, 20 U.S. Code. On the last page of the questionnaire in the commonly asked questions, the questionnaire reiterates the authorization of survey Section 9543, 20 US Code. The survey also details that the United Sates the Office of Management and Budget (OMB) approved the survey, further indicating the OMB reviews all federally sponsored surveys. The survey approval number was provided, 1850-0768. After completing the questionnaire, participants were thanked and asked to return the Participant the survey in the postage paid envelope provided. Instructions were provided to participants on returned questionnaires if the envelope was lost. Once the participant completed survey was returned, participants exited the process.

The completed screener questionnaire was used to subsample children in the household for a more in-depth topical survey. Based on the response, parents either received the questionnaire for the Early Childhood Program Participation questionnaire, the Parent and Family Involvement (PFI-Enrolled) questionnaire for children enrolled in public or private school or the Parent and Family Involvement in Education (PFI-Homeschooled) questionnaire for homeschooled children.

Completed questionnaires were assigned a check in code that indicated the form completion status and logged into the Automatic Tracking and Control system. The screener and topical questionnaires received outcome codes of completeness. To ensure the validity, a second data review was completed for all screeners and topical

questionnaires. Forms that did not meet the completeness requirements were reclassified as non-interviews. The three groups were created into batches based on the type of form and interview status: interview, "non-interviews," and out of scope for survey.

A series of processing procedures were completed for respondents that completed and returned the questionnaire forms to confirm the data is complete and accurate. The survey processing procedures included data capture and imaging, reformatting keyed data, interview classification, a series of computer edits, school coding, the final interview status classification and a set of imputation procedures used to generate values with missing information. The process was repeated after imputation to ensure no errors were introduced in the imputation process.

The data capture process for the PFI included converting questionnaires from paper to electronic format using a combination of imaging technology and manual data keying with both being facilitated by the Census Bureau's Integrated Computer Assisted Data Entry system. Once the questionnaires were received by the Census Bureau's National Processing Center (NPC), the Census Bureau clerical processing staff validate the bar code for all checked in questionnaire. All questionnaire checked in questionnaires were prepared for scanning and scanned on both sides simultaneously using a duplex scanning equipment. A cross reference process was completed that reviewed the questionnaire for the appropriate number of pages. All electronic questionnaire that had adequate page count for were accepted. Electronic questionnaires with discrepancies in the page count was forward to the manual registration process. The accepted batches

proceeded to the next stages of data capture: auto registration including optical mark recognition (OMR) and manual registration.

NHES:2019 recognized that during the auto registration, several items may impede the process, either with the system being able to read the bar code and unable to read the questionnaire ID or misreads that occur due to marking outside of the check box, scratch outs, or random marks on a page. All questionnaires with problem were transferred to the manual registration process. The manual registration process involved the clerical staff reviewing the questionnaires and addressing the issues. Questionnaires without problems during the auto registration and OMR bypassed manual registration completely.

Acceptable NHES questionnaire were converted into ASCII files at the Census Bureau's. After the completion of converting the files into ASCII, the files were sent to the Census headquarters that was reformatted into SAS data sets to all permit the remaining data processing tasks. Topical case classification was completed by the Interview Status Recode (ISR) to determine whether topical case was an interview, non-interview, or out of scope for the NHES. Once verification was completed, a final ISR classification was provided for each case.

Student Archival Data Collection

The archival data from the PFI:2019 were used in this study. The archival data are stored on the NCES website located at https://nces.ed.gov/nhes/data_files.asp. To start the process, I completed the prescribe NCES Distance Learning Database training. This provided an introduction course in using the NCES-PFI data sets. Once the training was

completed, the questionnaire and data file user manual were reviewed to determine the relevant items and variables needed for the study (Jackson et al., 2021). In addition, the codebook was downloaded from the NHES website. The descriptive information on the relevant variables was reviewed. The code book provided details on value labels, frequency counts, and percentage distribution for all data. This information was reviewed prior to downloading the dataset for the PFI 2019 file.

Once the Dataset Training was completed, I downloaded the 2019 Data Products. To gain access to the data, all users must agree to use the data for information purposes only. In addition, it is unlawful to attempt to determine participants identity and the use of the download would not be used for that purpose. The PFI SPSS set up file was selected and downloaded from the website. Two files were included in the file: data file and SPSS import instructions.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

The (PFI) Survey was the published instrument that will be used in this study. The (NCES) developed the instrument and published it in 2019. The instrument provides data on students in the United Sates attending elementary, middle, and secondary school (Jackson, et al., 2021). Parent and family involvement in the students' education during the 2018 and 2019 school year as reported by the parents. The family activities used for this study are the foundation of Epstein's model, which is the theoretical framework for this study and includes the six parental involvement activities The questionnaire contains demographic information on families. Pertinent demographic information for this study

included income level, student enrollment in public school in the United States, as well as enrollment in grades six, seven, or eight (Jackson, et al., 2021).

Basis for Development

The relevant study variables included in the PFI data set are school and family characteristics; parental involvement activities and parents reported academic achievement of the child included in the study, as measured by grade point average reported by the parents.

Previous research indicated that effective parental involvement levels differ for families living in poverty (Bower, 2011) and additional research is needed to better understand the relationship between parental involvement activities and academic achievement for families living in poverty. This study sought to understand parental involvement activities for families living in poverty. Families' income levels used in defining the sample of families living in poverty.

The proposed study outcome variable was child's academic achievement and was measured by the PFI survey with report card grades for all subjects. Academic achievement was measured by one single response question. The parent participating in the study reported their child's level of academic achievement. The question specifically asked "Overall, across all subjects, what grades does this child get?". The response options were: Mostly A's, Mostly B's, Mostly C's, Mostly D's or lower, or schools do not record grades. The response of "school does not give these grades" will not be included in the study.

Operationalization

Dependent Variable

In this study, the parent's report of their child's (GPA) was used as the dependent variable in the analysis. The item asked, "Please tell us about this child's grades during this school year. Overall, across all subjects, what grades does this child get?' This item requested parents to their child's overall grade. It was measured by a 5-point categorial scale to reflect the students' GPA ranging from Mostly As to Mostly Ds or lower, as well as a category to capture children for whom grades were not provided.

Children whose schools did not provide grades was excluded, as the study seeks to understand the impact of the parental involvement activities on students' GPA. The academic achievement variable was treated as an ordinal variable.

Screening Variables

Poverty Levels. The item asked, "Which category best fits the total income of all persons in your household over the past month." The item requested parent to provide their household income. It was measured by a 10-point categorial scale to reflect household from income based \$0 to \$10,000 to \$150,001 or more. This variable was used to identify poverty levels.

School Designation. The item classifies, "Whether child is Home School or Enrolled in School?" The survey item is measured with a dichotomous scale. The response is (1 = Home School and 2 = Enrolled in School). Home School was excluded from this study.

School Type. The item, classifies, "Whether the student attends Private of Public School." The survey item is measured with a dichotomous scale. The response is (1 = Public School and 2 = Private School). The study focused on students enrolled in a public school.

Independent Variables: Parent Involvement

In this study, six areas related to parental involvement was used as the independent variables. The six variables that was used to measure parental involvement are parenting, volunteering, learning at home, decision making, communicating, and collaborating with community. The six parental involvement categories that was used in this study are aligned with the literature review for this study.

Parenting. The item asked, "In the past week, how many days has your family eaten the evening meal together". The activity used to measure parenting is frequency of families eaten meals within the past week utilizing a rating scale. It was measured by a 7-point categorical scale to reflect the frequency with a range of zero to seven. Score 0 response is "Zero Days". Score 1 is "One Day". Score 2 is "Two Days". Score 3 is "Three Days". Score 4 response is "Four Days". Score 5 response is "Five Days, Score 6 response is "Six Days". Score 7 is "Seven Days". The variable is ordinal.

Collaborating with Community. The item asked, "In the past month, has anyone in your family done the following things with this child?". This activity used to measure activities of collaborating with the community. The survey item is a construct that mirrors Epstein Parental Involvement framework for the parenting category. Each activity is

measured with a dichotomous scale. The response is (1 = Yes and 2 = No). The variable is nominal.

Communicating. The item asked, "Since the beginning of this school year, has any adult in the child's household done any of the following things at this child's school?" The activity is used to measure communication. Four activities were used to measure communication. The items asked, "Attended a school or class event, such as play, dance, sports event or science fair", "Attended a general school meeting for example an open house or back-to-school night, "Attended a meeting of the parent-teacher organization or association", and "Gone to a regularly scheduled parent-teacher conference with this child's teacher". The survey items are construct that mirrors Epstein Parental Involvement framework for the communicating category. Each activity was measured with a dichotomous scale. The response is (1 = Yes and 2 = No). The variable is nominal.

Decision Making. The item asked, "Since the beginning of this school year, has any adult in the child's household done any of the following things at this child's school?" Eight activities were used to measure decision making activities. The survey item is a construct that mirrors Epstein Parental Involvement framework for the decision-making category. Each activity is measured with a dichotomous scale. The response was (1 = Yes and 2 = No). The variable is nominal.

Learning at Home. The item asked, In the past month, has anyone in your family done the following things with this child". Seven activities were used to measure learning at home activities. The item included five of the subset questions to evaluate the construct

learning at home. The item asked, "Visited library, visited bookstore, gone to a play, visited an art gallery, museum or historical site, and Visited a zoo or aquarium". The survey item is a construct that mirrors Epstein Parental Involvement framework for the decision-making category. Each activity is measured with a dichotomous scale. The response was (1 = Yes and 2 = No). The variable was nominal.

Volunteering. The item asked, "Since the beginning of this school year, has any adult in the child's household done any of the following things at this child's school?" This question included a total of eight activities, but only two of the activities will be used to evaluate the construct volunteering. The item asked, "Participated in fundraising for the school, and Served as a volunteer in this child's classroom or elsewhere in the school." The survey item is a construct that mirrors Epstein Parental Involvement framework for the volunteering category. Each activity is measured with a dichotomous scale. The response is (1 = Yes and 2 = No). The variable is nominal.

Data Analysis Plan

For this quantitative study, regression test was conducted. SPSS version 27 was the software that will be used for this analysis.

1. What is the relationship between the six parental involvement activities, parenting, volunteering, learning at home, decision making, communicating, and collaborative with community on academic achievement, as measured by grade point average (GPA), among middle school students from high poverty families? H₀: There is no relationship between the six parental involvement activities on

academic achievement, as measured by grade point average (GPA), among middle school students from high poverty families.

H_A: There is a relationship between the six parental involvement activities parenting, volunteering, learning at home, decision making, communicating, and collaborative with community on academic achievement, as measured by grade point average (GPA), among middle school students from high poverty families.

Several steps are included in the data analysis plan. Given the ordinal nature of the dependent variable, an ordinal logistic regression will be the most appropriate statistical test for the hypothesis of this study (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2019). This functionality predicts the level of the grade point average, the dependent variable based on six parental involvement activities, independent variables. Descriptive statistics for the data set was calculated to include mean scores and standard deviation. The p-value was set at industry standard .05 level to assess the significance of each statistic. The confidence interval was set at 95%.

The Likelihood ratio was used to test the hypothesis for this research study. Two models are evaluated to determine whether to accept the null hypothesis or reject the null hypothesis. An ordinal logistic regression analysis has four assumptions. Assumption one is the dependent is measured at the ordinal level. Assumption two was one or more independent variables are continuous, ordinal, or nominal. This assumption includes dichotomous variables. Assumption three was multicollinearity cannot exist. Assumption five indicates outliers, high leverage values or highly influential points can exist in the study.

To test and assess the assumptions four, five, and six, SPSS statistical tests are required. Assumption one, two, and three must validated prior to running SPSS statistics. Hausman-McFadden test is used to test the assumption of independence amount the dependent variable (Garson, 2012). The odds ratio estimates for each parental involvement activity will be derived from the ordinal logistic regression coefficients. The parameter estimates were detail in the categories of dependent variables that are statistically significant. Dependent and independent variable combinations with p values less than or equal to .05 are deemed statistically significant indicating which parental involvement types yields higher grade point averages.

Threats to Validity

Internal Validity

Threat to validity can occur during the data design and collection for both internal and external. One possible threat to the internal validity in this study is differential participation. Differential participation occurs with families with different background characteristics deciding not to participate in the study or responding differently to the questions within the survey that may affect the dependent variable differently. It can be perceived that families from demographic variables either ethnicity or income variation may influence the dependent variable. The differential selection was addressed through our sampling.

In addition, GPA was reported by the parents and not collected from the official report card. This may result in a discrepancy between the parents reported and actual

GPA. Variables other than parental involvement may contribute to student's academic achievement that are not planned inclusion in this study.

External Validity

The threat to external validity is related to the population and whether the study findings can be generalized to larger populations or across different subpopulations. It is advised that a study with a large or random sample can increase the population validity results. The original sample for this study was 16,446. The sample size calculation indicated that 363 participants are required. Based on the large sample that will be used in this proposed study, this will help to address potential threats to external validity. Construct Validity

Construct validity focus on the effectiveness of the survey in measuring the construct. PFI was established in the late 1990s. Prior to implementing a new survey, the OMB evaluates the effectiveness of the survey and its items. Each item is reviewed to determine the effectiveness of measuring the construct. All new subsequent surveys must be approved prior to releasing the next survey.

Ethical Procedures

In this study, an archival data set was used from NCES. The ethical procedures for applying to the Institutional Review Board (IRB) at Walden University was used. This study did not include personal information on research participants.

NCES used great care to protect the identity of the families that participated in the study, NCES informed all participants of their right to participate or not participate in the study. NCES removed any characteristic that may lead to the identification of the

participants, which were removed prior to releasing the public use dataset located on the NCES website. NCES instructs all users of the data that the data must be used for research purposes. It is prohibited by law to attempt to determine the identity of participants with all violations resulting in criminal proceedings. NCES indicates that all intentional identification violates the participants' assurances of confidentiality given to the providers of the information (Jackson, et al., 2021).

Summary

In this quantitative nonexperimental, survey-based study, participants included parents of public-school students in middle school living in poverty. The goal is to examine the relationship between parental involvement activities and students' academic achievement. The study was limited to parents with a child in a public middle school in the United States living in poverty. This chapter detailed the proposed research design, data collection process, and data analysis.

Chapter 4: Results

Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine whether the predictor variables, parental involvement activities: parenting, communicating, volunteering, learning at home, decision making and collaborating with the community predicts academic achievement of middle school students from families living in poverty. Ordinal logistic regression analysis was used for this study. This was accomplished by addressing the following research question, null hypothesis (H_0), and alternate hypothesis (H_A):

RQ: What is the relationship between the six parental involvement activities, parenting, volunteering, learning at home, decision making, communicating, and collaborative with community on academic achievement, as measured by (GPA), among middle school students from high poverty families?

 H_0 : There is no relationship between the six parental involvement activities on academic achievement, as measured by (GPA), among middle school students from high poverty families.

 H_A : There is a relationship between the six parental involvement activities parenting, volunteering, learning at home, decision making, communicating, and collaborative with community on academic achievement, as measured by (GPA), among middle school students from high poverty families.

The purpose of this chapter is to display and discuss the results of ordinal logistic regression analysis conducted through hypothesis testing. Chapter 4 details the data collection process to include time frame, recruitment, and response rates. Inconsistencies

are discussed. In Chapter 4, I discuss and report the results of the study to include data collection procedures, demographic results, statistical assumptions, analysis of findings, results, and a summary.

Data Collection

The National Household Education Survey for Parent and Family Involvement of 2019 (PFI-NHES: 2019) was used in this study. The data collection time is based on school year 2018 – 2019. Parents with students in public schools were recruited for this survey. PFI unit response rate is 83.4% with an overall weighted response rate of 52.6%. This study focused on parents of middle school student living in poverty. The total number of participants who were families living in poverty was 2,255. The final selected sample of families living in poverty with middle school students was 526.

Demographic

The final sample, N = 526, consisted of 30.5% White, non-Hispanic students; 22.4% Blacks, non-Hispanic students; 36.3% Hispanic students; and 10.8% for all other races and multiple races. Male students represented 54.9% of the sample, and females represented 45.1% of the sample. Families with household incomes less than \$20,000 represented 80.3% of the students. The two regions within the United States where most families lived were within the South region (49.7%) and the Midwest region (22.7%).

Table 1Demographic Data for Participants (N = 526)

Variable	N	%
Race		
White, non-Hispanic	90	30.5
Black, non-Hispanic	66	22.4
Hispanic	107	36.3
Other races, non-Hispanic	33	10.8
Gender		
Male	162	54.9
Female	133	45.1
Parent structure of household		
Two parents	113	38.3
Mother only	142	48.1
Father only	16	5.4
Non-parental guardian	24	8.1

Non-Probability Sampling

The sampling is derived from a larger sampling using archival data from the Department of Education, totaling 16,446. Purposive sampling was used to identify two categories. Families living in poverty equaled 2,255. Families living in poverty with middle school students equaled 526 and represented the final sample size. This method assists in selecting those with required characteristics for this study. This method achieves external validity, as all participants that met the two categories of poverty and middle school students are evaluated. Based on this information, the findings can be used to generalize a larger population adhering to external validity.

Results

The research question was developed to understand the parental involvement activities that impact academic achievement for middle school students living in poverty.

The average grade as reported by parents is 1.92 with a standard deviation of .85. Grades classified as missing and schools that do not report grades are not listed.

Table 2

Dependent Variable Frequency

Variable	N	%
Mostly As	170	32.3
Mostly Bs	206	39.2
Mostly Cs	85	16.2
Mostly Ds	24	4.6

Statistical Assumption

Ordinal logistic regression analysis was originally proposed and required the testing of four assumptions. The dependent variable must be measured as an ordinal variable. GPA is the dependent variable, with four categories that require ordering. The independent variables are classified as continuous, categorical, or ordinal. The six parental involvement activities are the independent variable and categoric, and continuous. There is no multicollinearity, as the independent variables does not have connections to each other in the analysis. However, proportional odds assumption was violated. Therefore, a multinomial logistic regression analysis is used. This analysis plan changed from the approved ordinal logistic regression analysis to a multinomial logistic.

Multinomial logistic regression analysis has the same assumptions except for proportional odds is excluded. Proportional odds ratio is not an assumption. Two additional assumptions are included: a linear relationship exists between independent variable and dependent variable; outliers do not exist.

Report Statistical Analysis and Findings

Pseudo R-Square

The Cox and Snell value, 10.8% of the GPA predicted parental involvement activities. Nagelkerke indicates that 11.9% of the GPA predicted parental involvement activities. The McFadden analysis reveals that 4.8% of the GPA predicted parental involvement activities.

Table 3Pseudo R Square

	Pseudo R-Square
Cox and Snell	.108
Nagelkerke	.119
McFadden	.048

Model Fitting Information

The model fit was assessed using the Chi-square statistic. The Chi-square value was 53.83, and the p-value is .000 and less than 0.05. This provides evidence that there is a significant relationship between the dependent variable and independent variables in the final model. The final model is a significant improvement in the fit for the full model $[X^2(18, N=526) = 53.831, p=0.000]$.

Table 4

Model Fitting Information

	Model fitting criteria	Likelihood ratio tests		
	-2 Log			
Model	Likelihood	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
Intercept only	369.355			
Final	315.525	53.831	18	.000

Goodness of Fit

The Pearson (133.501) and deviance (135.964) statistic test proves that the model is fit. Since the test is not statistically significant, that is p value is greater than 0.05. Pearson's chi-square test indicates that the model does fit the data $[X^2(123) = 133.501, p=0.244]$, the Deviance chi-square does indicate good fit $[X^2(123) = 135.964, p=0.200]$.

Goodness-of-Fit

Table 5

	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
Pearson	133.501	123	.244
Deviance	135.964	123	.200

Likelihood Ratio Test

The likelihood ratio test proves parental involvement independent variables decision making p=0.09, communication p=.001, and volunteering p=.001 was p < 0.05 and statistically significant that indicate the independent variable contributes significantly to the final model.

Table 6

Likelihood Ratio Tests

Likelihood Ratio Tests				
	Model fitting			
	criteria	Likelihood ratio tests		sts
	-2 Log			
	Likelihood of			
	reduced			
Effect	model	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
Intercept	315.525 ^a	.000	0	
Learning at home	319.909	4.384	3	.223
Attended a religious				
event in the past month				
Decision making -	327.123	11.598	3	.009
Attend a school				
meeting				
Communication	332.376	16.852	3	.001
Attend parent - teacher				
conference				
Learning at home	318.345	2.821	3	.420
Visited a library in the				
past month				
Parenting	317.578	2.053	3	.561
Meal frequency				
Volunteering - Serve as	328.427	12.902	3	.005
a volunteer				

The chi-square statistic is the difference in -2 log-likelihoods between the final model and a reduced model. The reduced model is formed by omitting an effect from the final model. The null hypothesis is that all parameters of that effect are 0.

a. This reduced model is equivalent to the final model because omitting the effect does not increase the degrees of freedom.

Parameter Estimates

The categorical dependent variable component mostly B and decision making attending a school meeting had a statistical significance (p = .039, OR = 2.78) as compared the dependent variable component mostly D. Parameter estimate was ran evaluating mostly A. Decision making attending school meeting and volunteering serve as a volunteer had a statistical significance (p = .000, OR 3.47 and p = .008, OR .333).

Summary of Results

The research question analyzed on the academic achievement as the dependent variable and six parental involvement activities as the independent variables. A statistical significance of p <0.05 exist for three parental involvement: volunteer, communication and decision making. Therefore, the null hypothesis was rejected. There is a relationship between academic achievement and parental involvement activity.

Chapter 5 interpretates the research findings and confirms the literature as reviewed in Chapter 4 through the context of theoretical framework. The limitation of the study is discussed. The research recommendation for further research is discussed. The potential for social change for families and communities is discussed.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

Education with the adequate supports remains the greatest equalizer for families living in poverty. This study aimed to understand the relationship between academic achievement and parental involvement. Families living in poverty have unique barriers and understanding effective parental involvements for students provides the needed support.

This quantitative, nonexperimental study was conducted to examine the following questions: What is the relationship between the six parental involvement activities, parenting, volunteering, learning at home, decision making, communicating, and collaborative with community on academic achievement, as measured by GPA among middle school students from high poverty families? A nonparametric, multinomial logistic regression design was used to analyze archival data collected by NHES with a total participant of 526. Six parental involvement activities were evaluated. Three of the six predictor variables, volunteering, communicating, and decision making were found to be an adequate factor in predicting academic achievement.

Interpretation of the Findings

Epstein's (2005, 2011) parental involvement activities are critical in supporting students in poverty with their academic endeavors. The challenge is identifying the parental activities that lead to academic achievement for students living in poverty. The results of the multinomial logistic regression indicated that parental involvement activities were factors in predicting academic achievement. The results are supported by

Epstein's parental involvement model. Six tenets exist in this model, communication, volunteering, learning at home, decision making, collaborating with the community, and parenting.

Research indicated that traditional parental involvement activities are not as effective for families living in poverty (Bowers, 2011). This study also focused on understanding parental involvement, specifically in the context of families living in poverty. However, this study did indicate some traditional parental involvement activities are effective. Communication, volunteering, and decision making were found to be related to student academic achievement. Communication as measured by attending parent teaching conference was found to be a statistically significant predictor of academic achievement. Research supports the value of strong communication between school personnel and inner-city families that leads to academic achievement (Allen & White, 2018; Williams & Sanchez, 2011). Volunteering was measured by whether there was parental service as a volunteer and was found to be statistically significant. Research indicated school base programs that support production of social capital, a sense of connectedness, and a sense of knowing (Allen & White, 2018; Williams & Sanchez, 2011). Volunteering enables families to foster strong relationships among families, school and community. Volunteer counters stress and isolation experience for families living in poverty (Allen & White, 2018; Williams & Sanchez, 2011).

Decision making was measured by parental attendance at school meetings and was also found to be statistically significant. This explains may explain why participation was low in decision making activates. Time poverty is evident for families living in

poverty and activities that home and away from schools that consume parents' time.

Parents' job was listed as a main task that consumes parents' time and a barrier to parental involvement.

The remaining parental involvement activities that were evaluated as part of this study, which included learning at home, collaborating with the community and parenting, were not found to be statistically significant. Collaborating with the community was measured by parental attendance at a religious event in the last month, learning at home was measured by number of visits to the library in the past month, and parenting was measured by number of times parents were eating meals with their child. Mayo and Siraj (2015) completed a study that contributed to understanding the impact of parenting has on academic achievement for low-SES families. The study concluded two types of parental involvement activities are effective in supporting academic achievement, learning at home and parenting.

The study examines the impact of each parental involvement activity on student academic achievement, as measured by GPA. GPA was reported on Mostly As, Mostly Bs, Mostly Cs and Mostly Ds. Parameter estimate table showed Mostly Bs has a greater statistical significance with three of six parental activities evident. This is further supported by the classification table that indicated Mostly Bs predicted percent is 72.2%.

Limitation of the Study

Oversampling was initially noted for a potential limitation of the study. This item continued to be a limitation for the study. Initially, each category of parental involvement was made up of multiple questions. Once the analysis was complete, several of the

categories did not have ample responses, resulting in a Hessian matrix warning in SPSS.

To address this warning, each category was reduced to one survey question.

The original decision-making question included, served on a school committee. The response to this question indicated that 93.4% of the participants respond no. This question was not a good fit for the research participants and was removed from the analysis. The replacement decision making question of attended school meetings was used. As the decision-making definition included participating in school governance committees or organizations, such as parent-teacher association, are forms of decision making. Parents may assume leadership roles that involve distributing information to other parents. The intent is to give parents an opportunity to actively voice their ideals in developing mission statements, in designing, reviewing, and improving school policies that affect students and families (Epstein, 2005, 2011).

Recommendation

The study used archival data from the NHES for Public School systems. The dependent variable of GPA, as reported by parents, was used. It may be helpful to evaluate the actual grade point average with a numeric value, instead the categories (i.e., Mostly As, Mostly Bs, Mostly Cs, Mostly Ds) that were in the archival data used in this study. Based on my initial analysis of group parental involvement activities, some activities are missing representation. It is recommended that schools evaluate the decision-making activities and actively engage parents who are in families living in poverty. The first response to the lack of participation may be parents are not interested in

these types of activities. However, this research has challenged me to realize that families may not be invited to participate in these types of activities.

Implication

The implication of parental involvement for families increases students' academic performance, reduces delinquency, and provides a means to escape poverty for the next generation. These challenges left unaddressed are magnified (Epstein, 2005, 2011).

Engaging parents in their child's academic performance reduces disciplinary actions, attendance problems, and poor performance. Schools and families engage in effective parental involvement strategies reduces the negative consequences of poor performance (Bowers, 2011). In addition, high school graduation rate improves, and crime may be reduced. Lastly, academic achievement for one generation has the impact to remove poverty for the next generation (Bowers, 2011).

Conclusion

This study focused on parental involvement activities that leads to academic achievement for families with middle school student living in poverty. The initial research indicated that traditional parental involvement activities may not be as effective for families living in poverty. However, this study revealed that some additional parental involvements are effective. The common denominator is open communication for parents, students, teachers, school faculty, and community.

It is critical that school to home connections are made to support middle school students in families living in poverty to help support the families as they work with their

middle school students to attain academic achievement, helping to mitigate poverty for the community and next generation.

References

- Adamson, P., Bradshaw, J., Chzehen, Y., Main, G., Martorano, B., Menchini, L., & Neubourg, C. (2012). Measuring childhood poverty. New league tables of child poverty in the world's rich countries. *Innocenti Report Card 10*, 10, 40. https://www.unicef-irc.org/publications/pdf/rc10_eng.pdf
- Allen, Q., & White-Smith, K. (2018). "That's why I say stay in school": Black mothers' parental involvement, cultural wealth, and exclusion in their son's schooling. *Urban Education*, *53*(3), 409-435.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085917714516
- Aykac, S., & Msengi, C. (2019). Influence of parental involvement on students' success in Title I charter school in Texas as perceived by middle school principals.

 School Leadership Review, 14(1).
- Bellibaş, M. Ş. (2016). Who are the most disadvantaged? Factors associated with the achievement of students with low socio-economic backgrounds. *Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice*, 16(2), 691-710.
- Benner, A., Boyle, A., & Sadler, S. (2016). Parental involvement and adolescents' educational success: The roles of prior achievement and socioeconomic status. *Journal Of Youth & Adolescence*, 45(6), 1053-1064. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-016-0431-4

- Bower, H. A., & Griffin, D. (2011). Can the Epstein model of parental involvement work in a high-minority, high-poverty elementary school? A case study. *Professional School Counseling*, 15(2), 77-87.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1977). Toward an experimental ecology of human development.

 American Psychologist, 32(7), 513-531. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.32.7.513
- Camacho, A., & Alves, R. A. (2017). Fostering parental involvement in writing:

 Development and testing of the program cultivating writing. *Reading And Writing: An Interdisciplinary Journal*, 30(2), 253-277.
- Carolan, B. V., & Wasserman, S. J. (2015). Does parenting style matter? Concerted cultivation, educational expectations, and the transmission of educational advantage. *Sociological Perspectives*, *58*(2), 168-186.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0731121414562967
- Cho, MH., Convertino, C. & Khourey-Bowers, C. (2015). Helping preservice teachers (PSTs) understand the realities of poverty: Innovative curriculum modules. *Education Tech Research Dev*, *63*, 303-324. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-015-9366-9
- Cohen, J. (1992) A power primer. Psychological Bulletin, 112, 155-159.
- Coley, R.J., & Baker, B. (2013). Poverty and education: Finding the way forward.

 Listening. Learning. Leading. Education Testing Service, 60.

 https://www.ets.org/s/research/pdf/poverty_and_education_report.pdf

- Cooper, C. E., Crosnoe, R., Suizzo, M., & Pituch, K. A. (2010). Poverty, race, and parental involvement during the transition to elementary school. *Journal Of Family Issues*, *31*(7), 859-883. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X09351515
- Creswell, J. W. (2012). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research (4th ed.). Merrill.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. SAGE Publications.
- Davis-Kean, P. E., & Sexton, H. R. (2009). Race differences in parental influences on child achievement. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 55(3), 285-318.
- DePlanty, J., Coulter-Kern, R., & Duchane, K. A. (2007). Perceptions of parent involvement in academic achievement. *Journal Of Educational Research*, 100(6), 361-368.
- Dumais, S. A., Kessinger, R. J., & Ghosh, B. (2012). Concerted cultivation and teachers' evaluations of students: Exploring the intersection of race and parents' education attainment. *Sociological Perspectives*, 55(1), 17-42. doi:10.1525/sop.2012.55.1.17
- Eamon, M., & Altshler, S.J. (2004). Can we predict disruptive school behavior? *Children & Schools*, 26, 23 – 37

- El Nokali, N. E., Bachman, H. J., & Votruba-Drzal, E. (2010). Parent involvement and children's academic and social development in elementary school. *Child Development*, 81(3), 988-1005. doi:10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01447.x
- Epstein J.L., Sanders M.G., (2005) School-family-community partnerships and educational change: International Perspectives. In: Hargreaves A. (eds)

 Extending Educational Change. Springer, Dordrecht. https://doi.org/10.1007/1-4020-4453-4_10
- Epstein, J. L., Galindo, C. L., & Sheldon, S. B. (2011). Levels of Leadership: Effects of District and School Leaders on the Quality of School Programs of Family and Community Involvement. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 47(3), 462–495. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X10396929
- Erion, J. (2006). Parent Tutoring: A Meta-Analysis. *Education & Treatment of Children*, 29(1), 79-106.
- Frankenhuis, W. E., & Nettle, D. (2020). The strengths of people in poverty. Current Directions in *Psychological Science*, 29(1), 16–21. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721419881154
- Gray, D. L., Hope, E. C., & Matthews, J. S. (2018). Black and belonging at school: A case for interpersonal, instructional, and institutional opportunity structures. *Educational Psychologist*, 53(2), 97–113. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/00461520.2017.1421466

- Gordon, M., & Cui, M. (2014). School-related parental involvement and adolescent academic achievement: The role of community poverty. *Family Relations: An Interdisciplinary Journal of Applied Family Studies*, 63(5), 616-626. doi:10.1111/fare.12090
- Grolnick, W. S., & Slowiaczek, M. L. (1994). Parents' Involvement in Children's Schooling: A Multidimensional Conceptualization and Motivational Model. *Child Development*, 65(1), 237-252. doi:10.1111/1467-8624.ep9406130692
- Hanson, R., and Pugliese, C. (2020). *Parent and Family Involvement in Education: 2019*(NCES 2020-076). U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC: National
 Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved [date] from
 http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2020076.
- Hill, N. B., & Tyson, D. F. (2009). Parental involvement in middle school: A metaanalytic assessment of the strategies that promote achievement. *Developmental Psychology*, 45(3), 740-763. doi:10.1037/a0015362
- Jackson, M., Kaiser, A., Battle, D., Wan, C., Quenneville, G., Kincel, B., and Cox, C. (2021). *National Household Education Surveys Program of 2019: Data File User's Manual* (NCES 2021-030). U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics. Retrieved [date] from https://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2021030.
- Jeynes, W. H. (2005). The effects of parental involvement on the academic achievement of African American Youth. *Journal of Negro Education*, 74(3), 260.

- Jeynes, W. (2012). A meta-analysis of the efficacy of different types of parental involvement programs for urban students. *Urban Education*, 47(4), 706-742.
- Jeynes, W. H. (2016). A meta-analysis: The relationship between parental involvement and African American school outcomes. *Journal of Black Studies*, 47(3), 195-216. doi:10.1177/0021934715623522
- Jurado, E. N., & Tan, C. B. (2014). Caregiving stress and coping patterns of parents with a hemophilic child: Basis for effective family adaptation to chronic illness. *HAEMOPHILIA*, 20, 149.
- Kim, J. (2012). Defining and assessing parent empowerment and its relationship to academic achievement using the national household education survey: A focus on marginalized parents (Order No. 3543883). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1220493669). Retrieved from https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?qurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.proquest.com%2Fdissertations-theses%2Fdefining-assessing-parent-empowerment%2Fdocview%2F1220493669%2Fse-2%3Faccountid%3D14872
- Kim, S. w., & Hill, N. E. (2015). Including fathers in the picture: A meta-analysis of parental involvement and students' academic achievement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *107*(4), 919-934. doi:10.1037/edu0000023
- Khanh, B., & Rush, R. A. (2016). Parental involvement in middle school predicting college attendance for first-generation students. *Education*, *136*(4), 473-489.

- Kohen, D. E., Leventhal, T., Dahinten, V. S., & McIntosh, C. N. (2008). Neighborhood disadvantage: Pathways of effects for young children. *Child Development*, 79, 156 169
- Kuncel, N., Credé, M., & Thomas, L. (2005). The validity of self-reported grade point averages, class ranks, and test scores: A meta-analysis and review of the literature. *Review of Educational Research*, 75(1), 63-82.

 http://www.jstor.org/stable/3516080
- Lareau, A. (2011). *Unequal childhoods.* [electronic resource]: class, race, and family life (2nd ed., with an update a decade later.). University of California Press.
- LaRocque, M., Kleiman, I., & Darling, S. M. (2011). Parental Involvement: The missing link in school achievement. *Preventing School Failure*, 55(3), 115-122.
- Lloyd-Smith, L., & Baron, M. (2010). Beyond conferences: Attitudes of high school administrators toward parental involvement in one small midwestern state. School Community Journal, 20(2), 23-44.
- Luet, K. M. (2017). Disengaging Parents in Urban Schooling. *Educational Policy*, 31(5), 674-702. doi:10.1177/0895904815616481
- Malone, D. (2017). Socioeconomic Status: A Potential Challenge for Parental Involvement in Schools. *Delta Kappa Gamma Bulletin*, 83(3), 58-62.
- Martin, S. C. (2015). How to increase parental involvement in an elementary Title I school: A phenomenological case study (Order No. 3700070). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1680014629).

- Mayo, A., & Siraj, I. (2015). Parenting practices and children's academic success in low-SES families. *Oxford Review of Education* 3(1), 47-63.
- McPhee, C., Bielick, S., Masterton, M., Flores, L., Parmer, R., Amchin, S., Ster, S., and
 McGowan, H. (2015). *National Household Education Surveys Program of 2012:* Data User's Manual (NCES 2015-030). National Center for Education Statistics,
 Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education. Washington DC
- Merten, M. J. (2010). Parental health and adolescent competence, psychological well-being and self-assessed physical health. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 21, 114 128.
- Otani, M. (2019). Relationships between parental involvement and adolescents' academic achievement and aspiration. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 94, 168–182. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2019.01.005
- Paulynice, R. (2020). A comparative study on parental involvement (Order No. 28157493). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (2466105063). Retrieved from https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?qurl=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.proquest.com%2Fdissertations-theses%2Fcomparative-study-on-parental-involvement%2Fdocview%2F2466105063%2Fse-2%3Faccountid%3D14872

- Wang, M., & Sheikh-Khalil, S. (2014). Does Parental Involvement Matter for Student Achievement and Mental Health in High School?. *Child Development*, 85(2), 610-625. doi:10.1111/cdev.12153
- Wentzel, K. R. (2009). Peers and academic functioning at schools. In K. H. Rubin, W.
 M. Bukowski & B. Laursen (Eds.), *Handbook of peer interactions, relations and groups* (pp. 531- 547). New York: Guilford
- Wilder, S. (2014). Effects of parental involvement on academic achievement: a metasynthesis. *Educational Review*, 66(3), 377-397. doi:10.1080/00131911.2013.780009
- Vance, N. (2016). Joyce Epstein's School-Family-Community Partnership Model. *Joyce Epstein's School-Family-Community Partnership Model Research Starters Education*, 1-5.
- Seidl, B., & Friend, G. (2002). Leaving authority at the door: Equal-status community-base experience and the preparation of teachers for diverse classrooms. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 18(4), 421-433. EJ 653.
- Ucus, S., Garcia, A., Esteraich, J., & Raikes, H. (2019). Predictors and behavioral outcomes of parental involvement among low-income families in elementary schools, United States. *Early Child Development and Care*, 189(9), 1425–1443.
- Young, C. Y., Austin, S. M., & Growe, R. (2013). Defining parental involvement: perception of school administrators. *Education*, *133*(3), 291-297.

- Robbins, C. c., & Searby, L. (2013). Exploring parental involvement activities utilized by middle school interdisciplinary teams. *School Community Journal*, 23(2), 113-136.
- Roksa, J., & Potter, D. (2011). Parenting and academic achievement: Intergenerational transmission of educational advantage. *Sociology Of Education*, 84(4), 299-321. doi:10.1177/0038040711417013
- Rowe, S. L., Zimmer-Gembeck, M. J., & Hood, M. (2016). From the child to the neighbourhood: Longitudinal ecological correlates of young adolescents' emotional, social, conduct, and academic difficulties. *Journal of Adolescence*, 49, 218–231. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2016.04.001
- Sheldon, S. B., & Epstein, J. L. (2005). Involvement counts: Family and community partner ships and mathematics achievement. *Journal of Educational Research*, 98, 196–206.
- Shuffelton, A. (2017). Parental involvement and public schools: Disappearing mothers in labor and politics. *Studies In Philosophy & Education*, *36*(1), 21-32. doi:10.1007/s11217-016-9537-0
- Starks, G. L. (2015). African Americans at Risk: Issues in Education, Health,

 Community, and Justice [2 Volumes]: Issues in Education, Health, Community,

 and Justice. Santa Barbara, CA: Greenwood.

- Tabachnick, B. G., Fidell, L. (2019). Using multivariate statistics (7th ed.). New York, NY: Pearson
- Turney, K., & Kao, G. (2009). Barriers to school involvement: Are immigrant parents disadvantaged?. *Journal of Educational Research*, 102(4), 257-271.
- Ucus, S., Garcia, A., Esteraich, J., & Raikes, H. (2019). Predictors and Behavioural

 Outcomes of Parental Involvement among Low-Income Families in Elementary

 Schools, United States. *Early Child Development and Care*, 189(9), 1425–1443.
- Wilder, S. (2014). Effects of parental involvement on academic achievement: a metasynthesis. *Educational Review*, 66(3), 377-397. doi:10.1080/00131911.2013.780009
- Williams, T. T., & Sánchez, B. (2013). Identifying and decreasing barriers to parent involvement for inner-city parents. *Youth & Society*, 45(1), 54-74. doi:10.1177/0044118X1140906